

AGEING WELL

Kia eke kairangi ki te taikaumātuatanga

2019 AGEING WELL YEAR IN REVIEW

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
METHODS
Search strategy
Inclusion criteria
Categorisation
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Study selection
Bones and joints
Cardiovascular conditions
Central nervous system conditions
End-of-life and palliative care10
Frailty, balance and falls11
Health and social services
Health, wellbeing and quality of life14
Health workforce15
Housing17
Living and care facilities
Mental health
Nutrition
Other conditions21Hearing21Oral health21Other21Peripheral artery diseases22Respiratory conditions22Vision23
Prescribing
Social connection
Transport and built environment
Work and finances
Not otherwise classified
Ethnicity
,
REFERENCES



INTRODUCTION

Ageing Well - *Kia eke kairangi ki te taikaumātuatanga* - is one of eleven National Science Challenges (NSC) identified by the New Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation, and Employment (MBIE). These NSC are used to direct science investment on issues that matter to all New Zealanders. The vision underpinning the Ageing Well National Science Challenge (AWNSC) is *to add life to years for all older New Zealanders*. In articulating this vision, the AWNSC recognizes increases in life expectancy have not been matched by an increase in healthy life expectancy. AWNSC has established a bibliography of New Zealand research on older adults (2000-2018). This paper is a continuation of same activity, presenting a summary of 127 New Zealand-authored, peer-reviewed articles published 1 January to 31 December 2019.

METHODS

Search strategy

A systematic search for relevant publications was conducted, informed by the *Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA)* guidelines¹. The following electronic databases were searched: Ovid Medline, Web of Science Core Collection, and Scopus. The keywords were (*ageing* OR *old adults* OR *old people* OR *elder* OR *kaumātua*) AND (*New Zealand* OR *Māori* OR *Aotearoa*) AND (*health* OR *wellbeing* OR *care* OR *frailty* OR *palliative* OR *spirituality* OR *religion* OR *housing* OR *loneliness* OR *community* OR *culture* OR *migrant* OR *fall* OR *stroke* OR *nutrition* OR *physical activity* OR *mental health* OR *peer education* OR *income* OR *retirement* OR *transport* OR *lifecourse* OR *equity* OR *medication* OR *pain*). The keywords were revised from the ones used in the Year in Reviews 2017 and 2018 (conducted by AWNSC) to better reflect the ageing research areas in New Zealand. Table 1 presents the search strategy.

Ovid Medline V		We	Web of Science & Scopus	
1.	aging/ or aging.mp. or ageing.mp.	1.	aging OR ageing OR "old* adult*" OR	
2.	old* adult*.mp.		"old* people" OR elder* OR Kaumatua	
3.	old* people.mp.	2.	"New Zealand" OR Maori* OR Aotearoa	
4.	elder*.mp.	3.	#1 AND #2 AND PUBYEAR = 2019	
5.	Kaumatua.mp.	4.	health* OR wellbeing OR well-being	
6.	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5	5.	"home care agencies" OR "home care	
7.	New Zealand.mp. or New Zealand/		services" OR "hospice care" OR "dental	
8.	Maori*.mp.		care for aged" OR "advance care	

Table 1. Search strategy for the Year in Review 2019

¹ Page M J, McKenzie J E, Bossuyt P M, Boutron I, Hoffmann T C, Mulrow C D et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews BMJ 2021; 372 :n71 doi:10.1136/bmj.n71



9. Aotearoa.mp.	planning" OR caregiv* OR "caregiver
10. 7 or 8 or 9	burden" OR carer*
11. 6 and 10	6. "frail elderly" OR frail* OR "geriatric
12. limit 11 to yr="2019 -2019"	assessment"
13. health*.mp.	7. "palliative care" OR palliative OR
14. wellbeing.mp.	"hospice and palliative care nursing" C
15. well-being.mp.	"palliative medicine" OR "terminal car
16. 13 or 14 or 15	OR dying
17. Home Care Agencies/ or Home Care	8. spiritual* OR "spiritual therapies"
Services/ or Hospice Care/ or Dental	9. religio*
Care for Aged/ or Advance Care	10. home* OR hous* OR "housing for the
Planning/	elderly" OR residential
18. caregiver*.mp. or Caregivers/ or	11. "social isolation" OR "social*
Caregiver Burden/	connected*" OR loneliness OR lonely
19. carer*.mp.	12. communit*
20. caregiving.mp.	13. cultur*
21. 17 or 18 or 19 or 20	14. migrant*
22. Frailty/ or Frail Elderly/ or Geriatric	15. "accident* fall*" OR fall*
Assessment/ or frail* mn	16 stroke* OB "stroke rehabilitation"
23 Palliative Care/ or palliative mp_or	17 nutrition
"Hospice and Palliative Care Nursing"/	18 "nhysical activit*" OR exercis*
or Palliative Medicine/	19 "mental health" OR psychological
24 Terminal Care/ or dving mp	20 "neer education" OR "neer group*"
25 23 or 24	21 income OR employment OR work OR
26. spiritual* mp. or Spirituality/ or Spiritual	volunteer*
Theranies/	22 retir*
27 Beligion mn or Beligion/or "Beligion	23. transport OR mobility
and Psychology"/	24 lifecourse OR "life course"
28 home mn	25. "socioeconomic factors" OR equality (
29 housing mp or Housing/or Housing for	"healthcare disparities" OR "health
the Fiderly/	equity" OB equity
30 residential mp	26 "medication errors" OR "medication
31 28 or 29 or 30	adherence" OR medication* OR
32 "social isolation" mp. or Social Isolation/	"medication reconciliation" OR
33 "social* connected*" mn	prescription* OR "prescription drug
31 Ioneliness mp. or Loneliness/	misuse" OR "prescription drugs" OR
35 lonely mn	"prescription drug overuse" OR
36 32 or 33 or 34 or 35	prescription and overase on prescription and overase on
27 communit* mn	plescho on drug prescriptions on
38 Culture/ or cultur* mp	
39 migrant* mn	
40 Accidental Falls/ or fall* mn	
40. Accidental rais, of rais	#10 OK #11 OK #12 OK #13 OK #14 OF
41. Stroke	#13 OR #10 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OF #20 OP #21 OP #22 OP #23 OP #24 OF
12 nutrition mn	#20 ON #21 ON #22 ON #23 ON #24 OF #25 OP #26 OP #27
42. Huthton.mp.	#23 UK #20 UK #27
45. physical activity .mp.	29. #28 AND #3
44. Exercise/ or exercis [*] .mp	
45. 43 Or 44	
46. "mental health".mp. or Mental Health/	
47. psychological.mp.	
48. 46 0r 47	

49. "peer education".mp.	
50. Peer Group/ or "peer group"*.mp.	
51. 49 or 50	
52. Income.mp. or Income/	
53. Employment/ or employment.mp.	
54. Work/ or work.mp.	
55. volunteer*.mp.	
56. 52 or 53 or 54 or 55	
57. Retirement/ or retir*.mp.	
58. transport.mp.	
59. mobility.mp.	
60. 58 or 59	
61. lifecourse.mp.	
62. "life course".mp.	
63. 61 or 62	
64. Socioeconomic Factors/ or equality.mp.	
or Healthcare Disparities/	
65. Health Equity/ or equity.mp.	
66. 64 or 65	
67. Medication Errors/ or Medication	
Adherence/ or medication*.mp. or	
Medication Reconciliation/	
68. prescription*.mp. or Prescription Drug	
Misuse/ or Prescription Drugs/ or	
Prescription Drug Overuse/	
69. prescrib*.mp.	
70. Prescriptions/ or Drug Prescriptions/	
71. polypharmacy.mp. or Polypharmacy/	
72. 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71	
73. pain.mp. or Pain/	
74. 16 or 21 or 22 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 31 or	
36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or	
45 or 48 or 51 or 56 or 57 or 60 or 63 or	
66 or 72 or 73	
75. 12 and 74	

Inclusion criteria

Only articles published in English and on humans were selected. Since the purpose of this research activity was to generate a bibliography of research in the ageing area conducted in New Zealand, no filters were placed based on the type of publications provided full texts are available. Articles identified in the search underwent a series of screening processes. Firstly, duplicate articles were removed. Assistant Research Fellow (Dr Lizhou Liu) independently selected and screened articles for potential eligibility based on titles and abstracts, and full texts. Consensus on inclusion was reached by discussion with secondary reviewer (Professor Louise Parr-Brownlie). After screening, articles were categorized under different subheadings. Both authors of this review were not blinded to the journals or authors of the included studies.



Categorisation

In a slight modification to the process used in previous years, publications were assigned to one or more of 18 categories, to reflect the primary relevance of the publication. Assignment to more than one category was used conservatively. In addition to the relevant categories, an ethnicity category (Māori, Pacific, Asian) was also assigned, if the publication *primarily* reported on one of these broad ethnic groups.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Study selection

Figure 1 summarises the study selection process. The search strategy identified 1144 articles. After duplicate removals, 818 articles were screened by title and abstract. The full text of 131 articles were then assessed for eligibility, with 127 articles finally included in this Year in Review.



Figure 1. Study selection process

Table 2 summarises assignment of the 127 publications to the 18 relevant categories.

Table 2. Classification of p	oublications
------------------------------	--------------

Category	Number of	References
	publications*	
Bones and joints	8	(1-8)
Cardiovascular conditions	2	(9, 10)
Central nervous system conditions	14	(11-24)
End-of-life and palliative care	9	(10, 15, 25-31)
Frailty, balance, falls	6	(32-37)
Health and social services	13	(6, 24, 28, 38-47)
Health, wellbeing and quality of life	10	(48-57)



Category	Number of publications*	References
Health workforce	15	(14, 18, 26, 29, 30, 58-67)
Housing	6	(68-73)
Living and care facilities	14	(18, 25, 26, 28, 31, 58, 74-81)
Mental health	5	(38, 82-85)
Nutrition	6	(19, 79, 86-89)
Other conditions	17	(33, 67, 74, 75, 81, 90-101)
Prescribing	11	(4, 11, 85, 102-109)
Social connection	10	(72, 77, 110-117)
Transport and built environment	3	(118-120)
Work and finances	4	(121-124)
Not otherwise classified	3	(125-127)
* 127 unique publications are classified, with 25 being assigned to two categories and one to three categories.		

Bones and joints

A national population cross-sectional study consisting of 45,046 home care clients aged 65 years and older found that risk factors for hip fractures were similar to international work, and could be identified using the New Zealand version of the interRAI home care assessment (1).

In a small study, the Charlson Comorbidity Index was demonstrated to be a useful tool for predicting mortality 1-year post-injury in the patient cohort. Other variables, including common laboratory markers, can also be used for risk stratification to initiate timely multidisciplinary management and prognostic counselling for patients and family members (2).

A retrospective cohort study found that people who lived in greener neighbourhoods took fewer opioids, and lived longer following hip arthroplasty. The authors suggested that improving access to natural environments may be an effective component of a postsurgical recovery programme (3).

A national population-based study was carried out to evaluate the association between the Drug Burden Index (DBI) and hip fractures, after correcting for mortality and multiple potential confounding factors. Increasing DBI was associated with a higher likelihood of fractures after accounting for the competing risk of mortality and adjusting for confounders (4).

A retrospective cohort study evaluated post-operative mortality rates and trends over time for patients with fractured neck of femur at Waitematā District Health Board. Mortality rates following surgery for fractured neck of femur have significantly improved over recent years. Reduced time-to-theatre is associated with decreased inpatient, 30-day and one-year mortality outcomes (5).

To enhance understanding of access to rehabilitation services in Australian and New Zealand acute care facilities for older adults living with dementia and/or living in residential aged care facilities following a hip fracture, an online survey of 40 health professionals and interviews



with five geriatricians and five rehabilitation physicians were conducted. The study revealed that development of consistent decision criteria and pathways for access to hip fracture rehabilitation could provide a standard approach to access rehabilitation, particularly for patients with cognitive impairment and/or who reside in residential aged care facilities (6).

The risk factors for mortality of pyogenic vertebral column osteomyelitis was explored in Waikato Hospital. An increase in age and the number of vertebra were found to elevate the 1-year mortality risk (7).

The use of opioid analgesics over three years before and after total joint replacement surgery in New Zealand was described. Opioid analgesia prescribing was reduced following joint replacement surgery, although many patients remained long-term opioid users. Avoiding unnecessary pre-operative opioid use and limiting opioid use for post-operative pain management, where appropriate, could help reduce the risk of potentially ineffective or harmful long-term opioid use in the patients (8).

Cardiovascular conditions

An analysis evaluated clinical outcomes of the fully repositionable and retrievable Lotus Valve System in patients with bicuspid aortic valves enrolled in the RESPOND post-market registry. This analysis showed that data from the RESPOND registry demonstrated good clinical and echocardiographic outcomes up to 1 year post-implantation in patients with bicuspid aortic valves using the Lotus Valve (9).

A review provided an informed perspective on cardiovascular disease and palliative care needs among Māori New Zealanders. The review acknowledged that a major barrier for Māori families was engaging with the health system's biomedical approach when holistic care was preferred. The review recommended cultural safety training for health and cardiovascular professionals to strengthen rapport building and communication skills necessary for effective engagement and communication. In addition, increasing the Māori palliative care workforce and introducing cultural safety training for health professionals would help to bridge the gap (10).

Central nervous system conditions

Dementia and cognitive impairment

In a cross-sectional study, the prevalence and predictors of prescribing potentially inappropriate medications (PIMs) in a nationwide cohort of community dwellers with dementia requiring complex care needs were examined. PIMs are prescribed frequently in older adults with dementia (11).

In a pilot study, the modified Lifestyle for Brain Health scale quantifying dementia risk was introduced to a sample of 304 eligible self-selected participants. Older adults in this study did not have adequate knowledge about dementia risk and protective factors. However, they reported optimism about modifying risks through lifestyle interventions (12).



The interRAI-Home Care data set was analysed using a non-parametric method for testing seasonal distribution of cognitive and depression scale scores. The study findings, limited to the Southern Hemisphere, demonstrated a lack of seasonality in cognitive performance and impairment in older adults in New Zealand (13).

A focus group was conducted with a group of bilingual Asian health care professionals to explore public attitudes towards dementia in Asian communities in New Zealand, the stigma of dementia, and how best to develop culturally appropriate services for Asian people and families living with dementia. Findings show that much work is needed to destigmatise dementia in New Zealand Asian communities, through education, public awareness, and the availability of readily accessible services that can meet their cultural and language needs (14).

An exploratory qualitative study of 23 people who have been carers or provided support for a family member with dementia who had died in the last five years. There was the potential for families to be well prepared for when they needed to make decisions for the person with dementia based on everyday conversations that had taken place within families and throughout life. This study also reported that more innovative approaches to making a will and power of attorney may provide an important vehicle for expressing advanced care wishes (15).

A study interviewed 26 family members of people living with dementia about their experiences of supporting an admission to an acute hospital unit in New Zealand. This study provided evidence that family members are a resource that may be unrecognised, untapped and unsupported in the event of hospitalisation of people with dementia (16).

Māori understandings of dementia, its causes, and ways to support a whānau member with dementia were investigated in a focus group study. It was concluded that whānau are crucial for the care of a kaumātua with dementia, along with promoting healthy wairua for all. Whānau urgently need information to assist their knowledge building and to empower meeting the needs of whānau affected by dementia (17).

Patient-centred training needs of health care assistants who provide care for people with dementia were examined in 49 facilities across New Zealand. The results confirmed that the education provided did not sufficiently focus on these more complex skills. Provision of education that acknowledges the increased complexities of their carer role needs to be provided (18).

The methodology of the REACH (Researching Eating, Activity and Cognitive Health) study that would be used to investigate associations between dietary patterns, cognitive function and metabolic syndrome, accounting for a range of covariates was reported (19).

A review of dementia-friendly community initiatives showed that people with dementia are at the centre of dementia-friendly initiatives, and these foster social inclusion. Collaborations and partnerships enhance development of dementia-friendly communities. However, a lack of

resources and difficulty ensuring representation of marginalised groups provided challenges (20).

Parkinson's disease

A survey explored current medicine administration practices of people with Parkinson's disease in New Zealand. It revealed that medicine administration is complex and challenging for people with Parkinson's disease. The development of educational packages for people with Parkinson's disease, their carers and health professionals are much needed (21).

Stroke

A clinical audit measured outcomes from 284 patients with acute stroke using the Dysphagia in Stroke Protocol. The study reported that simply implementing cough reflex testing in dysphagia management may not be sufficient to improve patient outcomes, and the true variable of influence may be applying test results to inform patient care. There is a strong case to support the use of a structured protocol if cough reflex testing will to be implemented in clinical practice (22).

A cross-sectional study determined the association of gout with the risk of hypertension and diabetes mellitus in stroke patients. Findings showed that gout may be independently associated with an increased risk of hypertension and diabetes mellitus in patients with stroke. Māori show a greater risk of diabetes mellitus associated with a gout diagnosis compared to other populations. This finding highlights the need for further research with Māori stroke survivors and other indigenous populations (23).

An audit determined current local community stroke rehabilitation practice and compared this to guideline recommendations. It was found that there were delays in providing an initial community rehabilitation appointment and insufficient therapy intensity when comparing audit results to New Zealand Guideline expectations. As a result of this audit, recommendations for service improvements have been made (24).

End-of-life and palliative care

A prospective staff survey of resident deaths in 61 representative long-term care facilities across New Zealand found that symptoms in the last week and month of life did not vary by diagnosis. However, sub-group planned contrast analyses found those with dementia and chronic illnesses experienced more physical distress during the last weeks and months of life than those with cancer (25).

A mixed-methods study evaluated the factors predicting the confidence of palliative care delivery by long-term care staff. The study concluded that organisational leadership should use multiple strategies (e.g. power-sharing, increased opportunities for mentorship) to improve staff palliative care delivery confidence (26).



A qualitative study of family understandings of good end-of-life care in hospital for people dying in advanced age reported that families were highly satisfied with the concrete actions that clinicians working in acute hospitals integrated into their practice to deliver end-of-life care (27).

A mixed-methods case study investigated how care is delivered to patients admitted-to-die in an aged residential care facility. The study showed that aged residential care facilities are not set up or staffed to provide specialist palliative care of those admitted-to-die. A specific model of care that is funded appropriately is required (28).

A survey on the level of agreement among New Zealand and Australian doctors' decisions when using Advance Care Directives to guide treatment decisions for older patients revealed that the agreement level varies by vignette complexity, Advance Care Directives content, speciality and seniority of doctors (29).

A study explored how pre-clinical students make sense of their participation in the provision of end-of-life care within community settings. It was concluded that in-depth reflection may facilitate the links between experience-based learning and students' emerging ideas about their own professional identities, but the underlying mechanisms need further exploration (30).

A study using resident data from a sample of 51 hospital-level aged residential care facilities in New Zealand found that there are differences in the quality of end-of-life care given in aged residential care based on size, ownership model, and chain affiliation (31).

A review provided perspectives on living and dying with cardiovascular disease in New Zealand among Māori. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 8 in this review under *Cardiovascular conditions* (10).

Decisions about end-of-life care for people with dementia were investigated in an exploratory qualitative study. Conclusions of this study are reported in page 9 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions - Dementia and cognitive impairment* (15).

Frailty, balance and falls

A retrospective review study found that patients with traumatic odontoid fractures from falls were significantly more frail in comparison with any other mechanisms of injuries, with worse short- and long-term outcomes (32).

A study that estimated the health gain, health system costs and cost-effectiveness of cataract surgery for the New Zealand older population concluded that expedited cataract surgery appears very cost-effective. Routine cataract surgery is very cost-effective, and its value is largely driven by the falls prevention benefits (33).



The associations between frailty and clinical outcomes in very old patients in intensive care units (ICU) were examined in a population-based cohort study in New Zealand and Australia. Many very old critically ill patients are frail, and frailty is associated with considerably poorer health outcomes. Routine screening of older ICU patients for frailty could improve outcome predictions and inform intensive care and community health care planning (34).

Three types of fall prevention exercise programmes for an old population (a peer-led groupbased one, a home-based one, and a commercial one) were modelled to investigate their costeffectiveness. The study showed that implementing all of these exercise programmes for fall prevention in older people can produce considerable health gain, but the home-based version is likely to be the most cost-effective (35).

A qualitative study investigated the perceptions of older adults in a New Zealand towards the term "frail". It was suggested that health professionals should shift their focus on clinical encounters with older patients away from the deficits of frailty and towards independence, resilience and autonomy. Frail older adults often reject the term frailty when used about themselves, therefore, using this term in communication may have negative consequences (36).

The study protocol of a randomised controlled trial (RCT), which examined the impact of a complex intervention consisting of the Senior Chef (nutrition) and/or SAYGO (strength and balance exercise) programmes to prevent progression of frailty in pre-frail older adults, was reported (37).

Health and social services

A survey on specialist mental health care for older adults in New Zealand showed that national consistency in data collection and service delivery is needed. Further investigations are needed to understand the needs of people with prior mental health service contact (38).

A RCT evaluated the effectiveness of a post-acute care model (patients discharged from hospital and referred to a supported discharge team) for older people following injury. The study reported that the supported discharge team can provide an important role in reducing hospital length of stay and readmissions of older people following an injury, and in helping with the transition from hospital to home (39).

Semi-structured interviews with 40 patients-participants were conducted to offer providers advice on how to support patient self-management. It was concluded that providers who establish relationships with patients can support them to self-manage and improve health outcomes. Delivery of the Practical Reviews in Self-Management Support taxonomy components, in the absence of a relationship, are unlikely to be either acceptable or effective. Providers need to be aware that social determinants of health can constrain patients' options to self-manage (40).



A study described perioperative geriatric medicine services in New Zealand and Australia, and to explore geriatricians' views on the need for, and challenges in providing, perioperative care. Although geriatricians believed they should provide proactive collaborative care for older surgical patients, only a few hospitals currently provide these services. Funding streams for these services and further research to determine the best models of care are needed (41).

A retrospective observational study was carried out to determine the proportion of older patients who planned to receive or attended post-discharge secondary care (PDSC) after acute hospitalization and the association with undesirable outcomes. In patients aged ≥75 years in New Zealand, a "planned PDSC" at discharge or "attended PDSC" after an acute hospitalization was not associated with emergency department presentation, long-term care admission and death within 90 days after discharge (42).

A commentary paper described the Australia and New Zealand Emergency Laparotomy Audit-Quality Improvement (ANZELA-QI) study, which will gather large scale data of hospital-level information to enable clinicians to reduce variations in management. The ANZELA-QI study will help establish the role of collaborative models of care and the need for perioperative care teams (43).

The protocol for a RCT evaluating the effectiveness of modulating frontal EEG alpha oscillations during maintenance and emergency phases of general anaesthesia to improve early neurocognitive recovery in older patients was reported (44).

A retrospective study described inpatient healthcare-associated bloodstream infections (HABSI) in older adults and explored whether urinary catheters (presence/insertion/removal) were related to HABSI events. Findings showed that catheter-associated HABSI may be avoidable and potential preventative strategies were discussed (45).

A qualitative descriptive study entailed interviews with caregivers and older adults with multimorbidity receiving community based primary health care in Canada and New Zealand. Attributes of good care extend beyond disease management, and further research on implementation barriers and facilitators is required (46).

A literature review explored the economic benefits of technology use a for managing the "grey tsunami" that has commenced in New Zealand. It showed that technology is beneficial, especially for positive ageing. A significant reason for it hardly being used is the lack of thorough studies that demonstrate its cost-effectiveness. Studies have shown that even the simplest form of technology such as a phone call, mobile health application or a pedometer can be effective (47).

Healthcare professionals were recruited to explore their views on access to rehabilitation services for older adults living with dementia or in a residential aged care facility following a hip fracture. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 8 in this review under *Bone and joint* (6).



The current local community stroke rehabilitation practice was examined in a service audit. Conclusions of this audit are reported in page 10 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions* – *Stroke* (24).

Characteristics of palliative care for patients admitted to die in a New Zealand aged residential care facility were described. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 11 in this review under *End-of-life and palliative care* (28).

Health, wellbeing and quality of life

A paper described the development processes of a 'tuakana-teina' (elder sibling-younger sibling) peer education programme to help kaumātua support other kaumātua experiencing transitions in later life (48). A study protocol for using this programme to help Māori kaumātua work through later-stage life transitions was reported (49). Social determinants and communication correlates of health-related quality of life for kaumātua involved in this programme were identified. These findings have important theoretical and practical implications for positive ageing (50).

A study explored the impact that older adult engagement in natural environments had on agerelated health conditions, their responses to the changes, and identified the types of nature connections and greenspaces available to and prioritised by older adults. Nature connection opportunities are valued by nearly all adults irrespective of age and health. Accessible opportunities to engage with natural environments nearby and in the home environment should be available to all adults irrespective of health and accommodation type (51).

The health and wellbeing of older Asian immigrants in New Zealand were reviewed. A multitude of challenges in maintaining health and wellbeing confronted these older Asian immigrants; nevertheless, they created strategies to respond and positively influence their health following later-life migration (52).

A qualitative study explored the experiences of extended longevity as perceived by centenarians (people over 100 years of age). This study provided further insights into the existing literature on longevity and, through the narratives of the centenarians, has demonstrated the value of Erikson's psycho-social stages of development and Tornstam's theory of gerotranscendence when considering positive ageing (53).

Semi-structured interviews were conducted to investigate psychological strengths from community dwelling older adults. This study highlighted the challenges older adults had to identify their own strengths. However, the study demonstrated how narratives can be one way of uncovering psychological strengths with older adults (54). The research team also explored community-dwelling older adults' approaches to enhancing their psychological wellbeing. Older adults have a range of strategies or practices that they use to enhance their wellbeing.



However, wellbeing is not a static concept and it is important to recognise the influence of health, social and environmental factors as enablers and enhancers of wellbeing (55).

Indicators relating to ageing and health among veterans and non-veterans, and factors associated with subjective wellbeing of older New Zealand veterans were identified in a study. It was reported that older veterans do not differ greatly on indices of health and ageing from their non-veteran peers. Results supported previous findings that lower mental and physical health is associated with lower subjective wellbeing for veterans (56).

A qualitative study interviewed 20 community-dwelling people of advanced age (≥85 years) to explore insights about the ways older people maintain quality of life and health. The findings emphasised the need to move away from a narrow focus on problems to working together with people in advanced age to offer a more holistic approach that encourages and enhances adaptation and flexibility, rather than rigid and counterproductive coping patterns (57).

Health workforce

A study investigated environmental factors (temperature, humidity, noise, and lighting) in nurse offices and resident lounges in aged residential care facilities in New Zealand and compared them with international standards. The study indicates that nurses and healthcare assistants are working in environmental conditions that partially impede the health and safety of nursing staff, and could adversely affect their nursing care for residents in aged residential care facilities (58).

Data from Wave 4 of LiLACS NZ, a longitudinal study of Māori and non-Māori New Zealanders of advanced age, showed that gender and ethnicity are interwoven in caregiving and care receiving. Demographic differences and cultural expectations in both areas must be considered in policies for carer support (59).

A paper described older New Zealand-based Filipino female migrants' narratives around the care work they do for their families and the care arrangements they desire in old age to investigate links between individual narratives and the discourses around care work and aging (60).

A paper analysed a photographic essay of older adults and workers in a nursing home environment, as a day-in-the-life documentary photographic essay *Who cares* that published in *Kai Tiaki, Nursing New Zealand in 2006*. This paper illustrated the way in which older people care work is made invisible through complex social processes involving sight, and site-related contemporary visual and spatial practices of elder care (61).

Interviews were carried out to explore registered nurses' experiences, feelings and attitudes towards the interRAI-Long-Term Care Facilities (interRAI-LTCF), which is a web-based assessment tool designed to comprehensively assess older adults (≥65 years) living in aged residential care. Overall registered nurses supported the use of interRAI-LTCF as a



comprehensive assessment tool. Duplication in data entry, insufficient training, and the annual tests caused stress and negative feelings for registered nurses (62).

A longitudinal study including New Zealand and Australian healthcare professionals found that knowledge about sarcopenia is limited among healthcare professionals who attended a professional development event. Retention of knowledge remains a challenge to be addressed (63).

The psychiatry of old age specialist training programs in Australia, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and Mexico were described. Much work is needed to better coordinate psychiatry of old age specialist training positions, workforce development, and service delivery to ensure there is a sufficient supply of old age psychiatric specialists to meet the mental health needs of older adults in different countries in the coming years (64).

A descriptive study explored the experiences of work stress for support workers in New Zealand residential facilities. The findings extended current knowledge about support-workers' work stress by identifying the challenges relating to the lack of recognition of their role and expertise, the unintended consequences of person-centred care and the challenges faced by migrant support-workers (65).

New Zealand registered social workers' perceptions of older adults' alcohol use and the influence these perceptions had on their alcohol assessment processes were explored in a qualitative study. The implications and recommendations arising from the findings are critical for social work education, training and supervision. Furthermore the finding need to be used develop an 'evidenced informed' model of practice, which moves away from a single to multi-hypothesis assessment approach and from perception based to standardised questions (66).

A qualitative study examined the perspectives of caregiving for older people with intellectual disability and those of their family. Caregiving was informed by transitions across the life course. The theoretical model informs complex, trans-generational relationships that impact decision-making for people with a long-term condition (67).

A qualitative study by a group of Asian health care professionals explored public attitudes towards dementia in Asian communities in New Zealand, the stigma of dementia, and how best to develop culturally appropriate services for Asian people and families living with dementia. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 9 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions - Dementia and cognitive impairment* (14).

A paper reported the experiences of health care assistants caring for people at end-of-life, identified the skills required and examined the education provided against these skills. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 9 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions - Dementia and cognitive impairment* (18).



A two-phase qualitative study investigated the factors that predict the confidence of palliative care delivery in clinical staff in long-term care. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 10 in this review under *End of life and palliative care* (26).

A vignette-based study determined decision-making patterns when using Advanced Care Directives for older patients in Australia and New Zealand. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 11 in this review under *End of life and palliative care* (29).

Junior medical students' reflections on end-of-life care were explored using their written essays. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 11 in this review under *End-of-life* and palliative care (30).

Housing

A study exploring older renters' experiences on Waiheke Island illustrated the complexity of home, community and identity-related aspects of island life. Participants' experiences of islandness were influenced by multifaceted precarities in their personal situations and the broader island community (68).

In light of housing affordability concerns, older people's experiences of renting within a context of enduring home-ownership norms and aspirations were examined. Older tenants' housing pathways and experiences illuminate ways in which precarity can disrupt opportunities for ageing well and ageing in place (69).

A qualitative study investigated how housing-related precarities may impact upon experiences of ageing and home during later life. Results showed that experiences of renting and ageing can be complicated and compromised in diverse ways by interrelated aspects of precarity and resilience related to housing, community, health, financial and personal circumstances (70).

An analysis of pooled data from three consecutive, annual New Zealand Health Surveys found that rental tenure is associated with poorer health. This will have implications for policy and services in meeting the diverse care and support needs of older people. Higher rates of renting among Māori and Pacific people and older females means that these groups are particularly vulnerable to any negative impact of renting on health (71).

A study investigated housing tenure as a factor moderating the effects of loneliness and socioeconomic status on quality of life over a two-year period for older adults. Findings indicate that owners capitalise on their material and financial resources more than tenants in terms of their quality of life. In addition, home-ownership can act as a protective factor against the harmful effects of emotional loneliness in old age (72).

A qualitative case study approach examined living experiences of 10 older people living in local-authority rental housing in New Zealand and two custodians of those houses. The study



found that elements of specific interior spaces, spatial configuration, accessibility, outdoor, light, privacy and safety and social aspects need to be considered for wellbeing (73).

Living and care facilities

Aged care facilities

Access and barriers to oral health care for dependent elderly people living in rest homes were examined in a qualitative study. The study revealed that finance is a challenge as dental care is not publicly funded and many residents rely on limited income. Recommendations include policy changes to better fund oral health, specific oral health training for rest home staff, provision of mobile dental services to rest homes and the inclusion of gerontology in the dental school curriculum (74).

Using national data from the Older People's Oral Health Survey, residual dentition among older New Zealanders living in residential aged care facilities was explored. Having various degrees of tooth loss was normal, with the upper tooth-bound saddles against any partially dentate lower combination most common, and limited to females. An edentulous maxilla opposed by some remaining teeth in the mandible was observed in over one-quarter of the population, and most common among Māori and those who were older. Maxillary prostheses were much more common than mandibular ones. Dental care older people in aged residential care is likely to be complicated by the wide range of dentition configurations (75).

A cross-country comparative analysis compared publicly available information on aged care systems in seven countries (Australia, Canada, Japan, New Zealand, Switzerland, United Kingdom, and United States) to determine the degree of transferability for research on aged care between these countries. Efforts to improve the health, wellbeing, and quality of care for older people continue to be hampered by the overall paucity of consistently reported standardized data to enable valid international comparisons (76).

The influence of social factors on admission to aged residential care facilities was evaluated by using a national comprehensive geriatric assessment database in New Zealand. All four social factors remained significantly associated with aged residential care admission, namely: living alone, negative social interactions, perceived loneliness, and carer stress (77). Using the largest national database to date, competing-risk regression analysis showed that screening for hearing loss among community-living older adults is unlikely to impact on aged residential care admission rates (81).

A study interviewed 15 older Filipinos to understand the living and care arrangement plans of older Filipino immigrants in New Zealand. The study results have implications for service delivery within the New Zealand aged residential care sector. Due to an increasing number of older Filipino immigrants requiring care, aged residential care facilities must ensure their care models meet the needs of this growing group of older people (78).



A cross-sectional study observed the cascade of nutrient loss from meals planned, versus provided and subsequently consumed by older people in residential care. Not all planned and served food and beverages are consumed contributing to potential multiple nutrient deficiencies including energy and protein in the majority of aged-care residents (79).

Training needs of patient-centred care among health care assistants who provide care for people with dementia in aged care facilities were explored. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 9 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions - Dementia and cognitive impairment* (18).

A study compared symptoms before death in long-term care for those with cancer, dementia or chronic illness. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 10 in this review under *End-of-life, palliative care* (25).

Predictors of palliative care delivery confidence specific to long-term care staff were explored in a mixed method study. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 10 in this review under *End-of-life, palliative care* (26).

The situation of palliative care in a New Zealand aged residential care facility when patients are admitted to die was described. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 11 in this review under *End-of-life, palliative care* (28).

A study described the impact of facility size, ownership model and provider on resident comfort, and symptom management at the end of life stage. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 11 in this review under *End-of-life, palliative care* (31).

Workplace environments for nurses and healthcare assistants in New Zealand aged residential care facilities were examined. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 15 in this review under *Health workforces* (58).

Retirement villages

A case study explored how residents experience inclusion and exclusion, and sense of community within an urban retirement village. The authors identified that social connections were often fragile, and existing social group memberships were key to shared community experiences and a sense of belonging. Residents who found themselves on the social fringes, particularly as newcomers or through health decline, were at risk of marginalisation, stigma, and social exclusion. Further, the study identified that the design and layout, and tensions in the structure of the resident-management relationship potentially hinder inclusiveness and sense of community (80).

Mental health

The interRAI-Home Care assessment was used to characterise rates of hoarding disorder amongst older New Zealanders. Hoarding disorder rates are in line with published



international data. But, identifying a hoarding disorder with the interRAI is not straightforward and should be validated in future studies (82).

A study evaluated the impact of the Canterbury earthquakes on the mental health of older people by examining dispensing patterns of psychotropic medication. The study found that the February 2011 Canterbury earthquake caused a short-term increase in dispensing of anxiolytics and sedative/hypnotics, and no longer-term dispensing patterns were observed (83).

Sociodemographic, environmental and diagnostic characteristics of older community residents with schizophrenia were presented in a cross-sectional study. The results showed that this group continues to experience social disadvantage into older age, which requires policy-makers to ensure that services are tailored to the high social needs of these individuals (84).

A retrospective observational case-series analysis reported that clozapine could be used safely and effectively in older patients for a wider range of indications and at lower doses than younger patients. Data collected on the cause of death in older patients who were ever prescribed clozapine was problematic, and more research into this area is required (85).

District Health Boards were surveyed to determine mental health service delivery and funding models for adults aged 65 and older. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 12 in this review under *Health and social services* (38).

Nutrition

A RCT demonstrated that doubling the recommended protein intake in older males over 10 weeks only caused a limited impact on circulating metabolites (86).

A paper summarised the main scientific results achieved and the recommendations derived from the Joint Action Malnutrition in the Elderly (MaNuEL) Knowledge Hub. The hub was established to extend scientific knowledge, strengthen evidence-based practice, build a sustainable, transnational network of experts and harmonize research and clinical practice in the field of protein–energy malnutrition in older persons (87).

A MaNuEL study described malnutrition prevalence using harmonized definitions in older adults from different settings. Prevalence for different criteria varied between and within the settings, which might be explained by varying functional status. The criteria used strongly affect prevalence. It may be preferable to look at each criterion separately because they may indicate a specific nutritional problem (88).

A RCT explored the regulation of amino acid transporters and sensors in response to a high protein diet in old men. A diet of twice the recommended daily allowance for 10 weeks did not affect fasting mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 signalling, but increased total



ribosomal protein S6 and might improve muscular translational capacity to maintain muscular mass (89).

The study protocol for a cross-sectional study investigating the associations between dietary patterns, cognitive function and metabolic syndrome in older adults was reported. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 9 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions* (19).

The decay pathway of nutrient intake from planned menu through to consumption of residents in an aged care facility was investigated. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 19 in this review under *Living and care facilities* (79).

Other conditions

Hearing

A qualitative study examined the barriers to accessing hearing care services among older Pacific Island people in New Zealand. Financial, structural and cognitive barriers dissuaded older Pacific people from accessing hearing care services. It was recommended that modifiable barriers need to be eliminated or minimised to enable people to readily receive the hearing care assistance they need (91).

Hearing ability was not a risk factor for admission to aged residential care of older persons in New Zealand. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 18 in this review under *Living and care facilities* (81).

Oral health

The relationships between oral health and general health indicators were explored in three international longitudinal databases including a sample from New Zealand (n=15,012). The results pointed out the need of the inclusion of oral health assessment and advice from dentists or oral health practitioners into the multidisciplinary conversation. In addition, identifying older people with oral health problems is essential in order to provide treatment and monitoring (90).

An exploratory study accessed New Zealand rest home managers' opinions on access and barriers to oral health care for rest home residents. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 18 in this review under *Living and care facilities* (74).

A study described the residual dentition among older New Zealanders living in residential aged care facilities. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 18 in this review under *Living and care facilities* (75).

Other

Demographic trends (1995–2014) in a major New Zealand trauma centre were examined. Older patients bring a greater burden of co-morbidities, and trauma admission of older



patients has almost doubled over 20 years, including severe trauma. Yet, despite this, mortality has decreased. Integration of services into the new Auckland City Hospital in 2003, as well as improving trauma and medical care, may be possible explanations for the positive outcomes (92).

A national cross-sectional study provided an epidemiological profile of communication disabilities among older adults with complex needs. Communication disability is common among older adults. Māori, Pacific and Asian people, males and those who were older were more likely to have at least some communication disability compared to their European/other, female and younger counterparts (93).

A longitudinal cohort observational study examined baseline quality of life factors characteristics of participants enrolled prospectively. Health related quality of life factors were correlated with clinical characteristics of dialysis outcomes in a group of New Zealanders aged 65 years of age or older. Participants were either on dialysis or have been educated about dialysis (94).

The Vitamin D Assessment study, a large RCT from New Zealand, demonstrated that serum 25hydroxyvitamin D levels were not associated with chronic pain. These results do not support a role for low vitamin D status in the prevalence of chronic pain in older adults (95).

The risks of major bleeding events in older people using antithrombotics were examined. Results showed that dual antiplatelet therapy use was associated with an increased risk relative to non-use of any antithrombotics in intracranial bleeding and gastrointestinal bleeding. The increased bleeding risk relative to non-use of any antithrombotics was highest with triple therapy use for intracranial bleeding and gastrointestinal bleeding (97).

A qualitative study using a constructivist grounded theory approach examined perspectives of caregiving for older people with intellectual disability and their family. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 16 in this review under *Health workforce* (67).

Peripheral artery diseases

A RCT evaluated the effectiveness of heat therapy versus supervised exercise therapy for peripheral arterial disease. The results indicated that heat therapy can improve functional ability and has potential as an effective cardiovascular conditioning tool for individuals with peripheral arterial disease (98).

A feasibility study evaluated the safety and efficacy of the Serranator device in patients with peripheral artery disease in superficial femoral and popliteal arteries. Serranator is a safe and efficacious angioplasty balloon catheter system. This new design provides an exciting potential for optimizing vessel preparation and aiding drug delivery (99).

Respiratory conditions



An international review that included a New Zealand study evaluated the current epidemiological and financial burden of pertussis in older adults to discuss the potential value of a booster vaccination in this population. There is a good rationale to advocate for a booster pertussis vaccination throughout life to prevent pertussis infection and its transmission, especially in adults aged over 50 years (96).

A qualitative study interviewed health professional stakeholders and patients with severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) to determine the barriers and enablers to the provision of accessible high-quality COPD care in Southern New Zealand. Patients with severe COPD experience multilevel barriers to accessing healthcare in the New Zealand system, from diagnosis to advance care planning. Barriers need to be addressed by local health services if this group of patients are to receive high-quality care (101).

Vision

A retrospective review discussed the cataract surgery in Hauora Tairāwhiti (Gisborne District Health Board) and the need for improving access for Māori people (100).

A study explored the health gain, health system costs and cost-effectiveness of cataract surgery for old New Zealanders aged over 65 years. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 11 in this review under *Frailty, balance and falls* (33).

Prescribing

A study examined the feasibility of implementing a deprescribing intervention (a proposed intervention that can help to minimise polypharmacy whilst potentially improving several health outcomes in older people) that utilises a patient-centred pharmacist-led intervention model to address major deprescribing challenges. This patient-centred deprescribing approach, demonstrated a high uptake of deprescribing recommendations and success rate. After 6 months, significant benefits were noted across a range of important health measures including mood, frailty, falls and reduced adverse reactions (102).

A retrospective nationwide cross-sectional study emphasised the identification of factors associated with the prescription of potentially inappropriate medications (PIM) during the first completed comprehensive geriatric assessment. Targeted strategies to reduce modifiable factors associated with the prescription of PIMs in subsequent assessments has the potential to improve medication management in older adults (103). Determinants of prescribing PIMs in a nationwide cohort of community dwellers with dementia receiving a comprehensive geriatric assessment were examined. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 8 in this review under *Central nervous system conditions - Dementia and cognitive impairment* (11).

A study determined the level of potentially inappropriate prescribing (PIP) for octogenarians and examined the association between PIP, hospitalisation and mortality at 12-months followup. This study highlighted the importance of carefully considering all indicated medicines when



deciding what to prescribe. Further follow-up is necessary to determine the long-term effects of PIP on mortality and hospitalisation (109).

The prevalence of older people's polypharmacy and medication use across dependency levels was explored using a national sample of patient-level medication data. The study reported that polypharmacy and hyperpolypharmacy are common among older people, regardless of dependency level, and pain may be undertreated (104).

A meta-analysis evaluated the pooled estimate of central nervous system (CNS) medicines use in aged care homes. The review concluded that the overall use of CNS drugs varied among countries, with studies from Australia-New Zealand reporting the lowest use of CNS drugs. The criteria for prescribing CNS drugs in clinical practice should be evidence-based. Citeria should be used to support clinical judgement and patient safety, not to prohibit the use of the listed medications (105).

A systematic review of pharmacist-led medicines review services in New Zealand was conducted. Further investigation is needed to understand whether the development of culturally safe pharmacist-led medicines review services, responsive to community identified needs, can help to achieve equity in health outcomes for Māori older adults (106). The protocol of a feasibility study on a pharmacist-led medicines review intervention in community-dwelling older Māori adults was reported (107).

The prescribing pattern of clozapine in older adults in a standard older adult mental health setting was explored using a case-note review. The results showed that clozapine may be a safe and valuable treatment option for older adults with treatment-resistant schizophrenia and psychosis associated with Parkinson's disease and Lewy body dementia; doses can be low while remaining effective (108). A retrospective observational case-series analysis provided additional data concerning the safety, effectiveness and local prescribing trends of clozapine in elderly patients. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 20 in this review under *Mental health* (85).

The association between drug burden index and hip fracture among older adults was investigated in a national population-based study. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 7 in this review under *Bones and joints* (4).

Social connection

Using New Zealand interRAI-Home Care data from 2012 to 2016, the geographic distribution of the interRAI-Home Care cohort was examined. The study findings did not diverge greatly from prior research on older people and loneliness in rural areas. Observations of regional differences regarding rurality and socioeconomic status were not large (110).

A qualitative study explored the views of older adults' use of the terminology 'elder orphans', and the implications of using this term in health and social care systems. The use of 'elder



orphan' within healthcare was considered, and participants preferred it to be used contextually, and targeted towards appropriate health and social care services within and outside hospital-care settings (111).

A qualitative study explored the experiences of elder orphans living independently in the community with no immediate or close family support. The study offered insights on how existing informal networks influenced elder orphans' consideration of advance plan. Moreover, the findings have identified the extent that an informal support network has been received by elder orphans (112).

A comparative qualitative study outlined the meanings of loneliness and social isolation from the perspective of four ethnically diverse groups of older adults (Māori, Pacific, Asian, and New Zealand European). The study concluded that older people describe complex and culturally nuanced understandings and experiences of social isolation and loneliness. More culturally appropriate services, greater mental-health support and more service provision on weekends and evenings are needed (113).

Social isolation and loneliness among older Asian migrants in New Zealand were explored in a mixed-methods qualitative study. The study showed that older Asian migrants experienced high levels of isolation and loneliness at least at some points in their migrant lives. The participants revealed multiple ways of coping with lonely and isolated experiences in their limited social network, and these individual strategies allow recommendations on how best to reduce older migrants' social isolation and loneliness in the New Zealand context and beyond (114).

A secondary analysis of a study exploring how Chinese, Indian and Korean late-life immigrants participated in New Zealand society summarised three notions: being unsettled, feeling side-lined and being oriented towards social connectedness. A mood of loneliness coloured these late-life immigrants' resettlement experiences in New Zealand (115).

Longitudinal analysis of the relationship between purposes of internet use and wellbeing through loneliness and social engagement among older adults highlighted that internet use can support older adults' wellbeing, however, not every form of engagement impacts wellbeing the same way. These findings would inform the focus of interventions that aim to promote wellbeing (116).

Thirty-one sexual and gender minority people between the ages of 60 and 80 were interviewed about their experiences of social connectedness, stigma, and discrimination. Implications include a need to incorporate intersectional perspectives when working with both older adults and members of the LGBTQ+ community. Social work practitioners also need to consider the multifaceted and compounding identities of their clients with diverse experiences (117).



The moderating role of housing tenure on the effects of loneliness and socio-economic status on quality of life in old age were examined. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 17 in this review under *Housing* (72).

A study investigated the influence of social factors on aged residential care admissions in a national home care assessment database of older adults. Conclusions of this study have been reported in page 18 in this review under *Living and care facilities* (77).

Transport and built environment

A cross-sectional study (n=675) sought perspectives of family members of drivers aged over 65 years enrolled in a longitudinal study. Most (80%) felt that families, as well as older drivers, would be adversely affected by driving cessation. Families identified accessible local information and services, alternative transport, and community-based programs for drivers and families as the assistance most needed (118).

In a position paper, the authors explored potential wellbeing implications for an ageing population of a transition to automated vehicles and consequent social and spatial shifts in the context of New Zealand (119).

A cross-sectional study described characteristics of New Zealand older adults who are no longer driving; their health, activity patterns, and mobility/transport practices. Older New Zealand former drivers studied were mostly female, widowed, and living alone. Very few had planned ahead for driving cessation, and when it did occur, transport was heavily dependent on private cars driven by others (120).

Work and finances

A longitudinal investigation with older New Zealanders explored the association between retirement and physical health benefits. Findings indicated that retirement can be beneficial for those with poor health and limited resources. For the wealthy and healthy, retirement does not necessarily affect health. Universal superannuation initiatives may partly address inequalities experienced by older persons in poor health and socio-economic circumstances prior to retirement (121).

A study used multi-criteria decision analysis techniques to understand the relative attractiveness of retirement policy reforms in New Zealand. Findings revealed that a policy that raises taxes to prefund the government retirement income scheme would be supported by a majority of people of all ages and income groups, and would be more popular than a policy that raises the age of eligibility. The results suggest multi-criteria decision analysis has considerable potential to help policymakers develop policies that are aligned with people's preferences (122).



A survey examined the conditions under which retention and engagement of older workers could be enhanced, together with the potential for perceptions of age discrimination to negatively influence these outcomes. Implications for human resource management practice include the importance of providing organisational support for older workers along with protections from age bias and discrimination (123).

The retirement policy changes between the Labour-led government and the National-led government were described. The author concluded that the National-led government's retirement policy legacy was one of stagnation not innovation (124).

Not otherwise classified

A paper described a workshop process conducted to guide funding priorities for the AWNSC. Actively engaging older adults and community stakeholders in setting research priorities provided a unique opportunity to understand the key areas older adults think are important for future research (125).

Safety of blood donation in older individuals, and their contribution to the blood supply of five countries were evaluated. It was concluded that exclusion solely based on older age appears to be unwarranted based on safety concerns such as donor reactions. Healthy older individuals can continue to safely donate and make a significant contribution to the blood supply past arbitrary age limits (126).

A synopsis of the 5th New Zealand Influenza Symposium highlighted the advantages of influenza vaccination for older adults in reducing declines in cognitive and physical health. Research findings from influenza surveillance, future of influenza vaccines and the influenza promotional campaign presented at the symposium were summarised (127).

Ethnicity

In addition to classification into primary categories, when relevant, publications were assigned to a broad ethnicity category (Māori, Pacific, Asian). Many publications involved, or were relevant to one or more ethnic groups, but the ethnicity category was used only when the publication was *primarily* addressing one of these groups (Table 3).

Ethnicity	Number of publications	References
Māori	8	(10, 17, 48-50, 100, 106, 107)
Pacific	1	(91)
Asian	6	(14, 52, 60, 78, 114, 115)

27

Table 3. Publications relative primarily to a broad ethnic group



REFERENCES

2019;18(1):36-54

1. Abey-Nesbit R, Schluter PJ, Wilkinson T, Thwaites JH, Berry SD, Jamieson HA. Risk factors for hip fracture in New Zealand older adults seeking home care services: a national population cross-sectional study. BMC Geriatrics. 2019;19(1):93.

2. Chan HYH, Segreto FA, Horn SR, Bortz C, Choy GG, Passias PG, et al. C2 Fractures in the Elderly: Single-Center Evaluation of Risk Factors for Mortality. Asian Spine Journal. 2019;13(5):746-52.

3. Donovan GH, Gatziolis D, Douwes J. Relationship between exposure to the natural environment and recovery from hip or knee arthroplasty: a New Zealand retrospective cohort study. Bmj Open. 2019;9(9).

4. Jamieson HA, Nishtala PS, Scrase R, Deely JM, Abey-Nesbit R, Hilmer SN, et al. Drug Burden Index and Its Association With Hip Fracture Among Older Adults: A National Population-Based Study. Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences & Medical Sciences. 2019;74(7):1127-33.

5. Kirk RJ, Lawes CMM, Farrington W, Misur P, Walker ML, Kluger M, et al. Post-operative mortality rates for neck of femur fracture at Waitemata District Health Board. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2019;132(1490):17-25.

6. Mitchell R, Pulido DF, Ryder T, Norton G, Brodaty H, Draper B, et al. Access to rehabilitation services for older adults living with dementia or in a residential aged care facility following a hip fracture: healthcare professionals' views. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2019.

7. Vettivel J, Bortz C, Passias PG, Baker JF. Pyogenic Vertebral Column Osteomyelitis in Adults: Analysis of Risk Factors for 30-Day and 1-Year Mortality in a Single Center Cohort Study. Asian Spine Journal. 2019;13(4):608-14.

8. Wilson R, Pryymachenko Y, Audas R, Abbott JH. Long-term opioid medication use before and after joint replacement surgery in New Zealand. The New Zealand medical journal. 2019;132(1507):33-47.

9. Blackman DJ, Van Gils L, Bleiziffer S, Gerckens U, Petronio AS, Abdel-Wahab M, et al. Clinical outcomes of the Lotus Valve in patients with bicuspid aortic valve stenosis: An analysis from the RESPOND study. Catheterization and Cardiovascular Interventions. 2019;93(6):1116-23.

10. Mason K, Toohey F, Gott M, Moeke-Maxwell T. Maori: living and dying with cardiovascular disease in Aotearoa New Zealand. Current Opinion in Supportive & Palliative Care. 2019;13(1):3-8.

11. Bala SS, Jamieson HA, Nishtala PS. Determinants of prescribing potentially inappropriate medications in a nationwide cohort of community dwellers with dementia receiving a comprehensive geriatric assessment. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2019;34(1):153-61.

12. Barak Y, Gray AR, Rapsey C, Scott K. The Dunedin dementia risk awareness project: Pilot study in older adults. International Psychogeriatrics. 2019.

13. Barak Y, Leitch S, Gale C, Glue P. No seasonal influence on cognitive performance in a national sample of older adults in New Zealand. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2019.

14. Cheung G, Appleton K, Boyd M, Cullum S. Perspectives of dementia from Asian communities living in New Zealand: A focus group of Asian health care professionals. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2019;34(12):1758-64.

15. de Vries K, Drury-Ruddlesden J. Advance care planning for people with dementia: Ordinary everyday conversations. Dementia-International Journal of Social Research and Practice. 2019;18(7-8):3023-35.

16. de Vries K, Drury-Ruddlesden J, Gaul C. 'And so I took up residence': The experiences of family members of people with dementia during admission to an acute hospital unit. Dementia.

17. Dudley M, Menzies O, Elder H, Nathan L, Garrett N, Wilson D. Mate wareware: Understanding 'dementia' from a Maori perspective. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2019;132(1503):66-74.

18. Foster S, Balmer D, Gott M, Frey R, Robinson J, Boyd M. Patient-centred care training needs of health care assistants who provide care for people with dementia. Health & Social Care in the Community. 2019;27(4):917-25.

19. Mumme KD, Von Hurst PR, Conlon CA, Jones B, Haskell-Ramsay CF, Stonehouse W, et al. Study protocol: Associations between dietary patterns, cognitive function and metabolic syndrome in older adults - A cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1).

20. Shannon K, Bail K, Neville S. Dementia-friendly community initiatives: An integrative review. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2019;28(11-12):2035-45.

21. Oad MA, Miles A, Lee A, Lambie A. Medicine Administration in People with Parkinson's Disease in New Zealand: An Interprofessional, Stakeholder-Driven Online Survey. Dysphagia. 2019;34(1):119-28.

22. Perry SE, Miles A, Fink JN, Huckabee ML. The Dysphagia in Stroke Protocol Reduces Aspiration Pneumonia in Patients with Dysphagia Following Acute Stroke: a Clinical Audit. Translational Stroke Research. 2019;10(1):36-43.

23. San Gabriel DED, Slark J. The association of gout with an increased risk of hypertension and diabetes mellitus among stroke survivors in New Zealand: A cross-sectional study using routinely collected electronic health data. Jrsm Cardiovascular Disease. 2019;8.

24. Thompson S, Ranta A, Porter K, Bondi N. How much rehabilitation are our patients with stroke receiving? New Zealand Medical Journal. 2019;132(1499):49-55.

25. Boyd M, Frey R, Balmer D, Robinson J, McLeod H, Foster S, et al. End of life care for longterm care residents with dementia, chronic illness and cancer: Prospective staff survey. BMC Geriatr. 2019;19(1):137.

26. Frey R, Balmer D, Robinson J, Boyd M, Gott M. What factors predict the confidence of palliative care delivery in long-term care staff? A mixed-methods study. International Journal of Older People Nursing. 2019.

27. Gott M, Robinson J, Moeke-Maxwell T, Black S, Williams L, Wharemate R, et al. 'It was peaceful, it was beautiful': A qualitative study of family understandings of good end-of-life care in hospital for people dying in advanced age. Palliative Medicine. 2019;33(7):793-801.

28. McKinlay EM, Moran SV, Morgan SJ, Sari P, Kerridge JM, Pullon SR. What does palliative care look like in a New Zealand aged residential care facility when patients are admitted to die? New Zealand Medical Journal. 2019;132(1505):14-28.

29. Mitropoulos J, Austin N, Hunter P, Cairney H, Parikh S. Decision-making for older patients by Australian and New Zealand doctors with Advance Care Directives: a vignette-based study. Internal Medicine Journal. 2019;49(9):1146-53.

30. Wilson H, Warmington S, Johansen ML. Experience-based learning: junior medical students' reflections on end-of-life care. Medical Education. 2019;53(7):687-97.

31. Frey R, Balmer D, Robinson J, Gott M, Boyd M. The Effect of Residential Aged Care Size, Ownership Model, and Multichain Affiliation on Resident Comfort and Symptom Management at the End of Life. Journal of Pain & Symptom Management. 2019;57(3):545-55.e1.

32. Alas H, Segreto FA, Chan HY, Brown AE, Pierce KE, Bortz CA, et al. Association Between Frailty Status and Odontoid Fractures After Traumatic Falls: Investigation of Varying Injury Mechanisms Among 70 Elderly Odontoid Fracture Patients. Journal of Orthopaedic Trauma. 2019;33(12):e484-e8.

33. Boyd M, Kvizhinadze G, Kho A, Wilson G, Wilson N. Cataract surgery for falls prevention and improving vision: Modelling the health gain, health system costs and cost-effectiveness in a high-income country. Injury Prevention. 2019.

34. Darvall JN, Bellomo R, Paul E, Subramaniam A, Santamaria JD, Bagshaw SM, et al. Frailty in very old critically ill patients in Australia and New Zealand: a population-based cohort study. Medical Journal of Australia. 2019;211(7):318-23.

35. Deverall E, Kvizhinadze G, Pega F, Blakely T, Wilson N. Exercise programmes to prevent falls among older adults: modelling health gain, cost-utility and equity impacts. Injury Prevention. 2019;25(4):258-63.

36. Pan E, Bloomfield K, Boyd M. Resilience, not frailty: A qualitative study of the perceptions of older adults towards "frailty". International Journal of Older People Nursing. 2019;14(4):e12261.

37. Teh R, Kerse N, Waters DL, Hale L, Pillai A, Leilua E, et al. Study protocol of a randomised controlled trial to examine the impact of a complex intervention in pre-frail older adults. Aging-Clinical & Experimental Research. 2019;31(10):1407-17.

38. Cunningham R, Peterson D, Sims A. Specialist mental health care for older adults in New Zealand-an exploration of service models and routine data. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2019;132(1489):30-8.

39. Parsons M, Parsons J, Pillai A, Rouse P, Mathieson S, Bregmen R, et al. Post-Acute Care for Older People Following Injury: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2019.

40. Sheridan NF, Kenealy TW, Fitzgerald AC, Kuluski K, Dunham A, McKillop AM, et al. How does it feel to be a problem? Patients' experiences of self-management support in New Zealand and Canada. Health Expectations. 2019;22(1):34-45.

41. Thillainadesan J, Hilmer S, Close J, Kearney L, Naganathan V. Geriatric medicine services for older surgical patients in acute hospitals: Results from a binational survey. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2019;38(4):278-83.

42. Wu Z, Kim MS, Broad JB, Zhang X, Bloomfield K, Connolly MJ. Association between postdischarge secondary care and risk of repeated hospital presentation, entry into long-term care and mortality in older people after acute hospitalization. Geriatrics & gerontology international. 2019;19(10):1048-53.

43. Fernando J, Loh SM. The Elderly Emergency Laparotomy Patient - More Than Just the Operation. Annals of the Academy of Medicine, Singapore. 2019;48(11):382-5.

44. Gaskell A, Pullon R, Hight D, Termaat J, Mans G, Voss L, et al. Modulation of frontal EEG alpha oscillations during maintenance and emergence phases of general anaesthesia to improve early neurocognitive recovery in older patients: Protocol for a randomised controlled trial. Trials. 2019;20(1).

45. Hanger HC, Bloor M. Inpatient healthcare-associated bloodstream infections in older people. Internal Medicine Journal. 2019;49(9):1173-7.

46. Kuluski K, Peckham A, Gill A, Gagnon D, Wong-Cornall C, McKillop A, et al. What is Important to Older People with Multimorbidity and Their Caregivers? Identifying Attributes of Person Centered Care from the User Perspective. International Journal of Integrated Care. 2019;19(3).

47. Hennessy JL, Rodrigues A. Economic impacts of changing technologies on New Zealand homecare delivery. Journal of Enabling Technologies. 2019;13(3):188-200.

48. Simpson ML, Greensill HM, Nock S, Meha P, Harding T, Shelford P, et al. Kaumatua mana motuhake in action: Developing a culture-centred peer support programme for managing transitions in later life. Ageing and Society. 2019:1-24.

49. Oetzel JG, Hokowhitu B, Simpson M, Reddy R, Nock S, Greensill H, et al. Kaumātua Mana Motuhake: A study protocol for a peer education intervention to help Māori elders work through later-stage life transitions. BMC Geriatr. 2019;19(1):36.

50. Oetzel JG, Hokowhitu B, Simpson M, Reddy R, Cameron MP, Meha P, et al. Correlates of health-related quality of life for Māori elders involved in a peer education intervention. Journal of Health Communication. 2019;24(5):559-69.

51. Freeman C, Waters DL, Buttery Y, van Heezik Y. The impacts of ageing on connection to nature: the varied responses of older adults. Health & Place. 2019;56:24-33.

52. Montayre J, De-Arth J, Shrestha-Ranjit J, Neville S, Holroyd E. Challenges and adjustments in maintaining health and well-being of older Asian immigrants in New Zealand: An integrative review. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2019;38(3):154-72.

53. Ratan A, De Vries K. 'Just another day': The lived experience of being a hundred years old for ten New Zealanders. Ageing and Society. 2019.

54. Waterworth S, Raphael D, Gott M, Arroll B, Jarden A. Uncovering strengths within community dwelling older adults: What does it mean for health care practice? Health and Social Care in the Community. 2019.

55. Waterworth S, Raphael D, Gott M, Arroll B, Benipal J, Jarden A. An exploration of how community-dwelling older adults enhance their well-being. International Journal of Older People Nursing. 2019;14(4):e12267.

56. Yeung P, Allen J, Godfrey HK, Alpass F, Stephens C. Risk and protective factors for wellbeing in older veterans in New Zealand. Aging & Mental Health. 2019;23(8):992-9.

57. Wiles J, Miskelly P, Stewart O, Kerse N, Rolleston A, Gott M. Challenged but not threatened: Managing health in advanced age. Social Science & Medicine. 2019;227:104-10.

58. Kussmaul J, Peri K, Boyd M. Workplace environment for nurses and healthcare assistants in residential aged care facilities in New Zealand. Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing. 2019;36(4):6-17.

59. Lapsley H, Hayman KJ, Muru-Lanning ML, Moyes SA, Keeling S, Edlin R, et al. Caregiving, ethnicity and gender in Māori and non-Māori New Zealanders of advanced age: Findings from LiLACS NZ Kaiāwhina (Love and Support) study. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2019.

60. Ong MG. Who cares? The dilemma of carework in older Filipina migrants' narratives1. Journal of Comparative Family Studies. 2019;50(2):200-25.

61. Sayers J, Brunton M. Using the heterotopic mirror to reveal tensions in public reaction to a photographic essay of eldercare staff and older adults. Journal of Aging Studies. 2019;48:17-24.

62. Vuorinen M. Registered Nurses' experiences with, and feelings and attitudes towards, the International Resident Assessment Instrument for Long-Term Care Facilities in New Zealand in 2017. Journal of Research in Nursing. 2019.

63. Yeung SSY, Reijnierse EM, Trappenburg MC, Meskers CGM, Maier AB. Current knowledge and practice of Australian and New Zealand health-care professionals in sarcopenia diagnosis and treatment: Time to move forward! Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2019.

64. Cheung G, Bailey A, Subau D, Martinez-Ruiz A. International Perspectives on Old Age Psychiatry Training. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2019;27(7):695-705.

65. Czuba KJ, Kayes NM, McPherson KM. Support workers' experiences of work stress in longterm care settings: a qualitative study. International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being. 2019;14(1).

66. John Henley L, O'Donoghue K, Dale M. New Zealand Based Social Worker's Perceptions on Assessments of Older Adults and Alcohol Use. Practice. 2019;31(2):135-51.

67. Trip H, Whitehead L, Crowe M, Mirfin-Veitch B, Daffue C. Aging With Intellectual Disabilities in Families: Navigating Ever-Changing Seas-A Theoretical Model. Qualitative Health Research. 2019;29(11):1595-610.

68. Bates L, Coleman T, Wiles J, Kearns R. Older residents' experiences of islandness, identity and precarity: Ageing on Waiheke Island. Island Studies Journal. 2019;14(2):171-92.

69. Bates L, Kearns R, Coleman T, Wiles JL. 'You can't put your roots down': housing pathways, rental tenure and precarity in older age. Housing Studies. 2019;35:1442 - 67.

70. Bates L, Wiles J, Kearns R, Coleman T. Precariously placed: Home, housing and wellbeing for older renters. Health & Place. 2019;58:102152.

71. Pledger M, McDonald J, Dunn P, Cumming J, Saville-Smith K. The health of older New Zealanders in relation to housing tenure: analysis of pooled data from three consecutive, annual New Zealand Health Surveys. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2019;43(2):182-9.

72. Szabo A, Allen J, Alpass F, Stephens C. Loneliness, socio-economic status and quality of life in old age: The moderating role of housing tenure. Ageing and Society. 2019;39(5):998-1021.

73. McDougall L, Bakshi N, Brown A, Donn M, McDougall S, editors. Elderly care: Designing based on occupant perceptions. Proceedings of the International Conference of Architectural Science Association; 2019.

74. Gopalakrishnan A, Kahu E, Jones L, Brunton P. Access and barriers to oral health care for dependent elderly people living in rest homes. Gerodontology. 2019;36(2):149-55.

75. Hyland N, Smith MB, Gribben B, Thomson WM. The residual dentition among New Zealanders in aged residential care. Gerodontology. 2019;36(3):216-22.

76. Jain B, Cheong E, Bugeja L, Ibrahim J. International Transferability of Research Evidence in Residential Long-term Care: A Comparative Analysis of Aged Care Systems in 7 Nations. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2019;20(12):1558-65.

77. Jamieson H, Abey-Nesbit R, Bergler U, Keeling S, Schluter PJ, Scrase R, et al. Evaluating the influence of social factors on aged residential care admission in a national home care assessment database of older adults. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2019;20(11):1419-24.

78. Montayre J, Neville S, Wright-St Clair V, Holroyd E, Adams J. Late-life living and care arrangements of older Filipino New Zealanders. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2019;28(3-4):480-8.

79. Nanayakkara WS, Skidmore P, O'Brien L, Wilkinson T, Frampton C, Gearry R. From menu to mouth: the decay pathway of nutrient intake from planned menu to consumed and characteristics of residents in an aged care facility with greater nutrient decay rates: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2019;9(10):e024044.

80. Nielson L, Wiles J, Anderson A. Social exclusion and community in an urban retirement village. Journal of Aging Studies. 2019;49:25-30.

81. Schluter PJ, McAuliffe MJ, Askew DA, Jamieson HA. Hearing ability is not a risk factor for admission to aged residential care of older persons in New Zealand. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1):17272.

82. Barak Y, Leitch S, Greco P. Identifying hoarding disorder in the elderly using the interRAI. Archives of Gerontology & Geriatrics. 2019;80:95-7.

83. Beaglehole B, Bloomer C, Zhang T, Hamilton G, Boden JM, Mulder RT, et al. The impact of the Canterbury earthquakes on dispensing for older person's mental health. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2019;34(11):1599-604.

84. Lacey C, Manuel J, Schluter PJ, Porter RJ, Pitama S, Jamieson HA. Sociodemographic, environmental characteristics and comorbidities of older adults with schizophrenia who access community health service support: A national cross-sectional study. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2019;53(6):570-80.

85. Law A, Croucher M. Prescribing trends and safety of clozapine in an older persons mental health population. International Psychogeriatrics. 2019;31(12):1823-9.

86. Durainayagam B, Mitchell CJ, Milan AM, Zeng N, Sharma P, Mitchell SM, et al. Impact of a High Protein Intake on the Plasma Metabolome in Elderly Males: 10 Week Randomized Dietary Intervention. Frontiers in Nutrition. 2019;6.

87. Volkert D, Visser M, Corish CA, Geisler C, de Groot L, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, et al. Joint action malnutrition in the elderly (MaNuEL) knowledge hub: summary of project findings. European Geriatric Medicine. 2019.

88. Wolters M, Volkert D, Streicher M, Kiesswetter E, Torbahn G, O'Connor EM, et al. Prevalence of malnutrition using harmonized definitions in older adults from different settings – A MaNuEL study. Clinical Nutrition. 2019;38(5):2389-98.

89. Zeng N, Prodhan U, d'Souza RF, Ramzan F, Mitchell SM, Sharma P, et al. Regulation of Amino Acid Transporters and Sensors in Response to a High protein Diet: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Elderly Men. Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging. 2019;23(4):354-63.

90. de Almeida Mello J, Tran TD, Krausch-Hofmann S, Meehan B, van Hout H, Turcotte L, et al. Cross-Country Validation of the Association Between Oral Health and General Health in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association. 2019;20(9):1137-42.e2.

91. Reddy R, Welch D, Lima I, Thorne P, Nosa V. Identifying hearing care access barriers among older Pacific Island people in New Zealand: a qualitative study. BMJ Open. 2019;9(8):e029007.

92. Burstow M, Civil I, Hsee L. Trauma in the Elderly: Demographic Trends (1995-2014) in a Major New Zealand Trauma Centre. World Journal of Surgery. 2019;43(2):466-75.

93. McAuliffe MJ, Schluter PJ, Jamieson HA. An epidemiological profile of communication disability among older adults with complex needs: A national cross-sectional study. International Journal of Speechlanguage Pathology. 2019;21(6):537-46.

94. McNoe B, Schollum JBW, Derrett S, Marshall MR, Henderson A, Samaranayaka A, et al. Recruitment and participant baseline characteristics in the dialysis outcomes in those aged 65 years or older study. BMC Nephrology. 2019;20(1):137.

95. Wu Z, Camargo CA, Jr., Sluyter JD, Khaw KT, Malihi Z, Waayer D, et al. Association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels and self-reported chronic pain in older adults: A cross-sectional analysis from the ViDA study. Journal of Steroid Biochemistry & Molecular Biology. 2019;188:17-22.

96. Kandeil W, Atanasov P, Avramioti D, Fu J, Demarteau N, Li X. The burden of pertussis in older adults: what is the role of vaccination? A systematic literature review. Expert Review of Vaccines. 2019;18(5):439-55.

97. Nishtala PS, Jamieson HA, Hanger HC, Chyou TY, Hilmer SN. Examining the Risks of Major Bleeding Events in Older People Using Antithrombotics. Cardiovascular Drugs & Therapy. 2019;33(3):323-9.

98. Akerman AP, Thomas KN, van Rij AM, Body ED, Alfadhel M, Cotter JD. Heat therapy vs. supervised exercise therapy for peripheral arterial disease: a 12-wk randomized, controlled trial. American Journal of Physiology - Heart & Circulatory Physiology. 2019;316(6):H1495-H506.

99. Holden A, Hill A, Walker A, Buckley B, Merrilees S, Nowakowski P, et al. PRELUDE Prospective Study of the Serranator Device in the Treatment of Atherosclerotic Lesions in the Superficial Femoral and Popliteal Arteries. Journal of Endovascular Therapy. 2019;26(1):18-25.

100. Newlands SJ, Hoy BM, Wilson GA. Cataract surgery in Hauora Tairāwhiti and need for improving access for Māori. Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology. 2019;47(1):145-7.

101. Stokes T, Tumilty E, Latu ATF, Doolan-Noble F, Baxter J, McAuley K, et al. Improving access to health care for people with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in Southern New Zealand: Qualitative study of the views of health professional stakeholders and patients. BMJ Open. 2019;9(11).

102. Ailabouni N, Mangin D, Nishtala PS. DEFEAT-polypharmacy: deprescribing anticholinergic and sedative medicines feasibility trial in residential aged care facilities. International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy. 2019;41(1):167-78.

103. Bala SS, Jamieson HA, Nishtala PS. Factors associated with inappropriate prescribing among older adults with complex care needs who have undergone the interRAI assessment. Current Medical Research & Opinion. 2019;35(5):917-23.

104. Ferguson CA, Thomson WM, Smith MB, Kerse N, Peri K, Gribben B. Medication taking in a national sample of dependent older people. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2019.

105. Hasan SS, Zaidi STR, Nirwan JS, Ghori MU, Javid F, Ahmadi K, et al. Use of Central Nervous System (CNS) Medicines in Aged Care Homes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2019;8(9).

106. Hikaka J, Hughes C, Jones R, Connolly MJ, Martini N. A systematic review of pharmacist-led medicines review services in New Zealand – is there equity for Māori older adults? Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2019;15(12):1383-94.

107. Hikaka J, Hughes C, Jones R, Connolly MJ, Martini N. A pharmacist-led medicines review intervention in community-dwelling Māori older adults– a feasibility study protocol. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2019.

108. Phaldessai S, Butler R, Radhakrishnan R, Basheer M. Clozapine prescribing in older adults. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2019;34(7):1105-6.

109. Ryan C, Teh R, Moyes S, Wilkinson T, Connolly M, Rolleston A, et al. Quality of prescribing predicts hospitalisation in octogenarians: life and living in advanced age: a cohort study in New Zealand (LiLACS NZ). BMC Geriatrics. 2019;19(1):357.

110. Beere P, Keeling S, Jamieson H. Ageing, loneliness, and the geographic distribution of New Zealand's interRAI-HC cohort. Soc Sci Med. 2019;227:84-92.

111. Montayre J, Thaggard S, Carney M. Views on the use of the term 'elder orphans': A qualitative study. Health and Social Care in the Community. 2019.

112. Thaggard S, Montayre J. Elder Orphans' Experiences of Advance Planning and Informal Support Network. SAGE Open. 2019;9(3).

113. Morgan T, Wiles J, Moeke-Maxwell T, Black S, Park HJ, Dewes O, et al. 'People haven't got that close connection': meanings of loneliness and social isolation to culturally diverse older people. Aging and Mental Health. 2019.

114. Park HJ, Morgan T, Wiles J, Gott M. Lonely ageing in a foreign land: Social isolation and loneliness among older Asian migrants in New Zealand. Health & Social Care in the Community. 2019;27(3):740-7.

115. Wright-St Clair VA, Nayar S. Resettling amidst a mood of loneliness: Later-life Chinese, Indian and Korean immigrants in New Zealand. Ageing and Society. 2019.

116. Szabo A, Allen J, Stephens C, Alpass F. Longitudinal Analysis of the Relationship Between Purposes of Internet Use and Well-being Among Older Adults. Gerontologist. 2019;59(1):58-68.

117. Betts D, Maidment J, Evans N. Hidden and ignored: Older sexual and gender minorities in New Zealand. Social Work and Social Sciences Review. 2019;21(1):94-109.

118. Connor J, Brookland R, Samaranayaka A. Older Drivers and Their Future Mobility: Views and Involvement of Their Adult Children. Journal of Applied Gerontology. 2019.

119. Fitt H, Curl A, Dionisio MR, Ahuriri-Driscoll A, Pawson E. Considering the wellbeing implications for an ageing population of a transition to automated vehicles. Research in Transportation Business and Management. 2019;30.

120. Shope JT, Begg D, Brookland R. Older former drivers' health, activity, and transport in New Zealand. Journal of Transport and Health. 2019;14.

121. Szabo A, Allen J, Stephens C, Alpass F. Is retirement associated with physical health benefits? A longitudinal investigation with older New Zealanders. Age & Ageing. 2019;48(2):267-72.

122. Au J, Coleman A, Sullivan T. When I'm 64: What do New Zealanders want in a retirement income policy? Agenda-a Journal of Policy Analysis and Reform. 2019;26(1):23-47.

123. Bentley TA, Teo ST, Catley B, Blackwood K, Roche M, O'Driscoll MP. Factors influencing leave intentions among older workers: a moderated-mediation model. Personnel Review. 2019;48(4):898-914.

124. Claire Dale M. National's retirement policy stagnation and labour's response. New Zealand Sociology. 2019;34(2):279-306.

125. Doolan-Noble F, Mehta P, Waters D, Baxter GD. Supporting ageing well research: Findings from a research priority setting exercise. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2019;38(2):136-43.



126. Goldman M, Germain M, Gregoire Y, Vassallo RR, Kamel H, Bravo M, et al. Safety of blood donation by individuals over age 70 and their contribution to the blood supply in five developed countries: a BEST Collaborative group study. Transfusion. 2019;59(4):1267-72.

127. Nowlan M, Murfitt D, Turner N. Age is not just a number-synopsis of the 5th New Zealand Influenza Symposium 2019. New Zealand Medical Journal. 2019;132(1507):77-82.